IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

KAREN BURNETT,

Plaintiff,
CIVIL ACTION
V.
No. 05-2514-KHV
SOUTHWESTERN BELL TELEPHONE, L.P,,

Defendants.
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MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Karen Burnett brings suit againgt Southwestern Bell Telephone, L.P. for retdiatory discharge in
violation of the Family and Medica Leave Act, 29 U.S.C. § 2611 et seg. (“FMLA"), and the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act, 29 U.S.C. § 1001 et seq. (“ERISA”).! This matter is before the Court

on Defendant’s Motion For Partial Summary Judgment [On Plaintiff’s FMLA Claim] (Doc. #48) filed

September 22, 2006 and Plaintiff’s Motion For Leave To Fle A Surreply Memorandum |nOppositionTo

Defendant’ s MotionFor Summary JJudgment (Doc. #58) filed December 1, 2006. Asaprdiminary matter,

the Court sugtains plaintiff’s motion for leave to file asurreply. For reasons stated below, the Court also
sugtains defendant’ s motion for summary judgment on plaintiff' s FMLA claim.

Legal Standards

Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and

admissons onfile, together with the affidavits, if any, show no genuine issue asto any materia fact and that

! TheCourt previoudy certifiedanissueto the Kansas Supreme Court regardingwhat statute
of limitations appliesto plantiff’sERISA dam. See Memorandum And Order (Doc. #30) filed June 14,
2006. The Kansas Supreme Court has not yet ruled on the matter.




the moving party is entitled to judgment as amaiter of law. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c); accord Anderson

v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 247 (1986); Vitkus v. Bedtrice Co., 11 F.3d 1535, 1538-39

(10th Cir. 1993). A factud dispute is“materid” only if it “might affect the outcome of the suit under the
governing law.” Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248. A “genuine’ factual dispute requires more than a mere
scintilla of evidence. 1d. at 252.

The moving party bears the initid burden of showing the absence of any genuine issue of materid

fact. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986); Hicksv. City of Watonga, 942 F.2d 737, 743

(20th Cir. 1991). Once the moving party meets its burden, the burden shifts to the nonmoving party to
demondtrate that genuine issues remain for tria “as to those dispositive matters for which it carries the

burden of proof.” Applied GeneticsInt’l, Inc. v. First Affiliated 8., Inc., 912 F.2d 1238, 1241 (10th Cir.

1990); see dso Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586-87 (1986);

Bacchus Indus,, Inc. v. Arvinlndus., Inc., 939 F.2d 887, 891 (10th Cir. 1991). The nonmoving party may

not rest on his pleadings but must set forth specific facts. Applied Genetics, 912 F.2d at 1241.

“[W]e mug view the record in a light most favorable to the parties opposing the motion for

summary judgment.” Deepwater Invs., Ltd. v. Jackson Hole Ski Corp., 938 F.2d 1105, 1110 (10th Cir.

1991). Summary judgment may be granted if the non-moving party’ sevidenceis merely colorable or isnot
ggnificantly probative. Anderson, 477 U.S. at 250-51. “Inaresponseto amotion for summary judgment,
aparty cannot rely on ignorance of facts, on speculaion, or on suspicion, and may not escape summary

judgment in the mere hope that something will turn up & trid.” Conaway v. Smith, 853 F.2d 789, 794

(10th Cir. 1988). Essentidly, the inquiry is “whether the evidence presents a sufficient disagreement to

require submissionto the jury or whether it isso one-sided that one party must prevail as a matter of law.”




Anderson, 477 U.S. at 251-52.

“ Supporting and opposing affidavits shdl be made on persona knowledge, shdl set forthsuchfacts
as would be admissble in evidence, and shal show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to
the matters stated therein.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e). Rule 56(e) aso requiresthat “copies of al papers or
parts thereof referred to in an affidavit be attached thereto or served therewith.” To enforce thisrule, the
Court ordinarily does not strike affidavits but smply disregards those portions which are not shown to be

based upon persona knowledge or otherwise do not comply with Rule 56(e). Maverick Paper Co. v.

Omaha Paper Co., 18 F. Supp.2d 1232, 1234-35 (D. Kan. 1998).

Facts

The following facts are either uncontroverted or, where controverted, construed in the light most
favorable to plaintiff:
l. Defendant’ s Attendance Policy

Defendant’s policy requires “good attendance and punctuaity.” Operating Practice No. 45,
Defendant’s Exhibit B 1 1.2. The policy ates that “[g]ood attendance means a demondtrated ability
to be on the job on time over sustained periods of time.” Id. The policy provides that

[t]hereis no absol ute mathemeatica standard for determining good or bad attendance. The

determination of whether a particular employee' s attendance is satisfactory or not ismade

on an individud bass, taking into account al of the relevant factors pertaining to each

employee s attendance record.

I1d. 11.3. Under the policy, defendant does not discipline employeesfor FM L A-approved absences and

does not consider such absences when deciding whether to fire an employee.




. Defendant’ s Discipline Policy

Defendant mantains a progressive discipline policy. Southwestern Bell Teephone Company
Pogtive Discipline Policy and Procedure (“Discipline Policy”), Defendant’ s Exhibit C. Thepalicy provides
that defendant will accomplish most performance improvement through recognition of good performance
or employee discussons. 1d. 13.3. Wheredisciplineis required, the policy sets forth three progressive
levels Most cases begin a level one with a “performance notice” 1d. 1 3.3(A). At this levd, the
supervisor and employee discuss the job performance problem; the supervisor informs the employee that
defendant expectsimprovement and indicateswhat consequenceswill result if the employeeis not improve.
I1d. 13.3(A)(1). A performance notice remains active for Sx months, and an employee may have one
active performance noticein each performance category.? 1d. 13.3(A)(3)(c). If aproblem continueswithin
the same performance category, or if the employee has three active performance noticesinany categories,
the employee must progress to the next higher leve of discipline. 1d.

The second levd of discipline is a “written reminder,” which documents a formal conversation
between a supervisor and employee about a “very serious’ performance problem. Id. 1 3.3(B). The
supervisor follows up with awritten reminder to the employee whichsummarizesthe conversation. Under
the policy, defendant issues a written reminder when (1) an employee’s performance has not met job
requirements during the sx-month active time period for a performance notice; (2) an employee aready
hasthree active performance notices in separate categories; or (3) agngleincident occurswhichis serious

enough to warrant a written reminder, regardless of previous discipline. 1d. 1 3.3.(B)(1). A written

2 Although the record is not clear, it appears that the policy covers three performance
categories. (1) measurement of work, (2) attendance/punctudity and (3) safety. Id. 2.1,
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reminder remains active for nine months, and an employee may have only one writtenreminder active inany
one performance category. Id. 1 3.3(B)(3)(d). If problems continue within the same performance
category, or if the employee has two written remindersin different performance categories, the employee
must progress to the next higher leve of discipline. Id.

The third leve of discipline is a “decison making leave’ (“DML”), which begins with a forma
discussion between a supervisor and employee about an “ extremely serious’ performance problem which
canresult indismisAl. 1d. 13.3(C). Thediscussion typicaly occursjust before the end of the employee's
shift. The supervisor informs the employee of the seriousness of the Stuation and asks the employee to
decide whether he or she can commit to meet dl job requirements. At the end of the discussion, the
supervisor places the employee on DML withpay for the following scheduled work day.® Upon returning
the next scheduled work day, the employee must report to the supervisor whether he or she can commit
to meet Al job requirements. If not, the employee may resgn. 1d. Under the policy, defendant appliesa
DML when (1) an employee has not achieved and maintained job performance requirements during the
nine-month active time period for a written reminder; (2) an employee aready has two active written
reminders in separate categories; or (3) an employee commits an “extremely serious offense,” regardless
whether previous discipline has occurred. 1d. 13.3(C)(1). A DML remainsactivefor 12 months, and an
employee may have only one active DML at atime. 1d. 1 3.3(C)(3)(d). If an employee commits an
infraction while a DML is active, the immediate supervisor must document the infraction and forward an

appropriate recommendationto the next two higher levels of management. 1d. 113.3(C)(3)(e). Thepolicy

3 If an employee receives a DML which is subsequently deectivated, defendant ordinarily
does not give the employee another paid day off if it issues another DML to that employee.
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further provides that “[i]f the infraction is not deemed worthy of dismis, the documentation will be
covered with the employee and placed in the employee' s personnd file” 1d.

If aproblem recurs after a discipline action is no longer active, the policy provides asfollows:

Occasondly, a problem may reoccur in a desctivated performance category. In some

cases, the Stuation can be dedlt with through an employee discussion. If the problem

warrants a step of discipling, generaly, the employee will “start over” a Step 1

(Performance Notice). However, amanager is not required to start over at Step 1 if the

gtuation is such that a more severe step of discipline, including dismissd, is appropriate.

All rdevant factors, induding the following, should be takeninto account when determining

which course of action to take:

A. seriousness of the performance problem;
B. length of time since deactivation;
C. chronic pattern of same or smilar performance problems;
D. current active Performance Notices or Written Reminders, and
E. any mitigating or aggravating circumstances.
Id. 14.2.
. Plaintiff’s Employment With Defendant

In August of 1996, plaintiff began working as a part-time customer service representative for
defendant. On November 1, 1999, she became a full-time employee. At al relevant times, plaintiff
understood defendant’ s attendance policies and expectations.

Atrdevant times, Jason Crawford was plaintiff’ sarea manager, AngdaRossdirected the consumer
sdes acquisition center and TeresaMorris managed the consumer sales acquidtion center. Morris duties
included gathering information concerning employee attendance, caculating hours worked and tracking
hours used under the FMLA. In performing suchduties, Morris maintained aso-called “ SW-9115" form

which tracked when an employee missed work, the reasonfor the absence and whether it was covered by

the FMLA.




On May 30, 2002, defendant issued plaintiff a performance notice for absencestotaing 47 hours
and 20 minutes* Nearly amonth later, on June 27, 2002, defendant deactivated the notice because FMLA
covered the triggering events for the notice. In deectivating the notice, Morris advised plaintiff asfollows

Thisisnatify youl will be deactivating you[r] Performance noticefor attendance due to you

getting the 2 occurrences 5/11-5/13/2002 and 4/23/-5/2/5/2002 FMLA approved. This

was the agreement | had made during the performance notice meseting.

Defendant’ s Exhibit G.

From June 3 through June 8, 2002, plaintiff missed work due to the death of her mother-in-law.
Although its funerd leave policy did not apply, defendant alowed plantiff to take the days off without
discipline.

On August 3, 2002, plaintiff againmissed work. The FMLA did not protect this absence because
plantiff did not provide amedica certification.

Beginning August 13, 2002, plantiff stopped work due to post-traumeatic depression and siress.
The FMLA protected her absence until October 28, 2002, when plaintiff exhausted her available FMLA
leave for the calendar year. Plaintiff did not report to work, however, after her FMLA leave expired.

On December 9, 2002, Morris cdled plaintiff and told her that she would lose her job if shedid
not report to work by December 16, 2002. In so doing, Morris acted contrary to defendant’s typical

practice, which isto let the employee decide whether and when to return to work.

On December 16, 2002, plaintiff reported to work.> Morrisheld an atendance discipline megting

4 The record does not reflect the number of occurrences which plaintiff received for the

absences.

5 The parties dispute whether plaintiff returned to work on December 16 or 17. For
(continued...)




and gave plantff a written reminder for unsatisfactory attendance. Because she ill suffered from
post-traumatic depression and stress, plantiff left work after an hour and did not return until January 20,
2003. The FMLA did not cover her absence from December 17 through 31, 2002.° Because defendant
uses a calendar year to caculate FMLA leave avalability, FMLA began covering plaintiff’ s absence again
on January 1, 2003./

Plaintiff filed a union grievance regarding the written reminder dated December 16, 20028 On
January 21, 2003, defendant held a meeting to discuss the grievance. The union asked defendant to either
remove the written reminder or reduce it to a performance notice. At the meeting, Morris explained that
plaintiff had incurred another occurrence because she went back out on unprotected leave on December
17, 2002. On January 27, 2003, defendant denied the grievance.

OnJanuary 20, 2003, plaintiff returned to work onahalf-day schedule. On January 27, 2003, she
increased to Six hours aday, and on February 1, 2003, she resumed full-time employment. The FMLA

covered plaintiff’s absence from January 1, 2003 to February 1, 2003.

5(...continued)
purposes of this ruling, the Court accepts plaintiff’ s assertion that it was December 16.

6 Paintiff s SW-9115 for 2002 indicates that the absence on December 17, 2002 was
FMLA-approved, but Morris contends that she made the notation in error. See Affidavit Or Teresa
Moarris 1 3, Exhibit A to Defendant’s Reply To Raintiff’s Memorandum In Opposition To Motion For
Partid Summary Judgment (“Defendant’s Reply”) (Doc. #57) filed November 15, 2006. As noted, on
October 28, 2002, plaintiff exhausted her FMLA leave for 2002.

! If an employee satisfies FMLA digibility requirements, he or she can use 480 hours of
FMLA leave during each caendar year. To cdculate digibility for FMLA leave with respect to the
requiste number of hours worked, defendant looks back 12 months from the first day of the
leave-triggering event.

8 The record does not sate when plaintiff filed the grievance.
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OnFebruary 6, 2003, Morris hdd aDM L meeting with plaintiff becausethe FM LA did not protect
plaintiff’s absence from December 17 to 31, 2002, and she had thereforeincurred additional unprotected
absences after the writtenreminder of December 16, 2002. Pursuant to the DML, defendant gave plaintiff
apaid day off on February 8, 2003, to decide whether she could adhere to its attendance requirements.’
Paintiff asked whether Morris was overstepping the performance notice (step one of the discipline palicy).
Morris replied that defendant did not start over on positive discipline for attendance.

Pantiff filed a union grievance regarding the DML of February 6, 2003. As a result of the
grievance, defendant removed the written reminder of December 16, 2002 and reduced the DML of
February 6, 2003 to a written reminder. Defendant took these actions because Rob Semon, in human
resources, said that he would not support management moving plaintiff two levels of pogtive discipline for
absences due to the same disability. Inother words, he believed that management should not have issued
both awritten reminder and DML for plaintiff’s absence from October 28, 2002 to January 20, 2003,
because it was due to the one disability (post-traumatic depression and stress).

On February 24, 2003, plaintiff missed work for unexplained reasons.*

On March 1, 2003, defendant held a second DML meeting and informed plaintiff that any

o When defendant placed plaintiff on DML, it informed her that for the next 12 months, she
must maintain satisfactory performance in dl areas of her job, including attendance. Plaintiff understood
that she could be fired if she failed to meet these requirements.

10 Plantiff does not know why she missed work on February 24, 2003. Shedoesnot believe
that she requested FMLA coverage for this absence, and she does not contend that she was digible for
FMLA leave at that time. For the 12 monthsimmediately preceding February 24, 2003, plaintiff worked
atotal of 1,043 hours, including overtime. To bedighblefor FMLA leave, anemployee must work at least
1250 hours during the 12 months preceding the date on which the leave commences. See 29 U.S.C.
8 2611(2)(A)(ii).




subsequent attendance problems could result in termination.

On March 6, 2003, plaintiff telephoned work and told Morris that she was having difficulty
breathing and did not fed well.** Plaintiff asked to take FMLA leave. Morris stated that plaintiff was not
dligible for FMLA leave, but that she had six hours of vacation time available®? Plaintiff informed Morris
that her doctor had told her to go to the hospitd. Morristold plaintiff that she needed to do what her doctor
advised. Plaintiff did not report to work on that day or any day thereefter.

On March 10, 2003, Morris e-mailed Crawford (plaintiff’s area manager) and Ross (director of
the consumer sales acquisitioncenter) the following synopsis of plaintiff’ s attendance and discipline in 2002
and 2003:

. Performance Notice on 5/30/02 . . . deactivated 6/27/2003 due to triggering
events being covered by FMLA.

. Karen had an absence on 6/3 and 6/8/02 whichwas connected to her mother-in-
law passing. No action was taken.

. 8/3/2002 — Karen cdled inill — filed FMLA — did not get find denid until
11/14/2002 — Karen was out on disability at that time — no action taken.

. 8/13/2002 — went out on disability.
. 10/28/02 — ran out of FMLA.
. 12/16/02 returnto work — placed employee on writtenreminder for attendance

due to 10/28-12/16 not being FMLA covered and employee had not
demonstrated she could be a work for a substantial period of time.

1 Fantiff suffered a pulmonary embolism, a condition unrelated to her prior post-traumatic
depression and stress.

12 Plantiff does not dispute that she was not digible for FMLA leave. For the 12 months
immediately preceding March 6, 2003, plaintiff worked atotal of 1,043.10 hours, including overtime.
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12/17/02 — Karen rel gpsed on disability.

Returned on 2/3/03 — progressed to a DM L for attendance on 2/6/2003, for
unprotected disability time after relgpsing on 12/17/2002.

Union filed grievance.
Jason denied written reminder.

Grievance went to Rob Semon. Union advised Rob that Karen had been
progressed to aDML.

Rob Semon recessed grievance and advised he would not support us moving 2
levds of postive discipline on the same disability even though she returned and
went back out.

Karenhad another absence on 2/24/2003 for afull day. | contacted Rob to find
out what action should be taken since we were in the middle of the grievance
process. Rob advised | should hold an employee discusson with Karen
addressing the absence and advising her | would be getting back to her. | held that
discussion on 2/27/2003.

Rob contacted Debbie Snow on 2/27/2003 and they agreed to remove the written
reminder on 12/16/02 to resolve the grievance.

Rob advised that would [sic] change the DML on 2/6/2003 to awrittenreminder.
Karenhad aready received aDML day on 2/8/2003 so she wasnot givenanother
DML day off withpay when she was progressed back to aDML on 3/1/03 for the
2/24/03 absence.

Karen then caled in on 3/6/03 and begged for avacation day. | advised there
wereonly 6 hoursand she would have to comein from 5-7. Karen took a6 hour
EWP.2 | then received a cal from an emergency room nurse advising Karen
Burnett had been admitted into the hospital and that Karen had ask[ed] her to cdl
me and let me know she would not be there a 5:00 p.m.

Karenhasnot returned to work snce 3/6/03. Shehascaledin every day fromthe
hospitd.

13

The record does not explain what a“EWP” is.

11




. Karenisnot FMLA digible due to not working 1250 hoursinthe last 12 months.
. As of today, Karen has 7 occurrences for 424 hours and 25 minutes.

Deposition Exhibit 17, gppendix to Raintiff’s Oppostion (Doc. #52).

On March 19, 2003, Morris prepared an FMLA digbility form regarding plantiff’s absence
beginning March 6, 2003. The form stated that “employee is not eigible for FMLA time due to not

working 1250 hours.” Deposition Exhibit 15 at 2, gppendix to Raintiff’s Opposition (Doc. #52).

Some time after March 19, 2003, Morris began working on a separation proposal for plaintiff.*
With regard to plaintiff’s attendance record, Morris reported that in 2002, plaintiff had five occurrences
totaing 403 hours and 55 minutes, and that in 2003, plaintiff had two occurrences totaling 89 hours.™®

See Deposition Exhibit 19, appendix to Plaintiff’ s Opposition (Doc. # 52).

OnMarch?21, 2003, Crawford It telephone messages on plantiff’ shome and cellular telephones.
When plantiff returned the cal, Crawford informed her that defendant was terminating her employment
effective that day for unsatisfactory attendance. In deciding to terminate plantiff, defendant did not look

merdy to the number of plaintiff’s occurrences; it a'so considered the length and reason for her absences.

14 Morris testified that Crawford directed her to prepare the document, but she does not
recall when he did s0. See Morris Depo. at 192:11-193:5, Defendant’ s Exhibit E.

15 Defendant’ s attendance policy defines an occurrence as a continuous period of absence.

For 2002, defendant counted five occurrences on the following dates: (1) January 31; (2) February 14
t0 18; (3) August 3; (4) October 29 to December 16; and (5) December 17to 31. For 2003, defendant
counted two occurrences. (1) February 24; and (2) March 6 through 21 (the date of termination).

For the time period from August 13 through December 31, 2002, defendant assigned plaintiff two
occurrences of unprotected leave (i.e. non-FMLA-covered leave). If plantff had not returned to work
on December 16, 2002 defendant would have charged her with only one occurrence for a continuous
period of absence from October 29 through December 31, 2002. Because plaintiff reported to work on
December 16, however, defendant assigned her two occurrences: one for October 29 to December 16,
2002, and another for December 17 through 31, 2002.
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Defendant does not have amathemeatical formulafor deciding when to terminate an employee for
attendanceproblems. When an employeeisabsent after being placed on DML, defendant decideswhether
to terminate the employee on a case-by-case basis. Crawford typicaly made recommendations to Ross
regarding whether defendant should fire an employee under his supervison. In this case, however,
Crawford does not recall making such arecommendation. See Crawford Depo. at 173:22-25.

Ross had ultimate authority to decide whether to discharge an employee. Inso doing, shetypicaly
relied on direct supervisors to provide accurate informetion, and she sometimes asked questions and
reviewed documentationwiththem. Ross states that she decided to terminate plaintiff after conducting “a
thorough investigation concerning her absentesism, induding, but not limited to, reviewing [plaintiff’s]
positive discipline records, attendance records, and documentation of employeediscussons.” Affidavit Of

AngelaRoss 1 3, Exhibit B to Defendant’s Reply (Doc. #57).

Sharla Arrington, union steward, testified that based onher experience in representing employees
in meetings with management, defendant typicaly waitsfor anemployeeto returnto work before firing him
or her. Specificaly, Arrington testified asfollows:
Q. ... . Would it be the custom and practice of the company to give notice to the
employee in the disciplinary process if the employee is on aleave of absence or
FMLA or disability leave?

A. No. If they're gonna do something like that, they normaly wait until you return
back to work and then they meet withyou . . . .

ArringtonDepo. at 21:13-19.* Crawford testified that defendant typically doesnot discipline an employee

16 Defendant objectsto Arrington’ sdepositiontestimony onthe ground that the Court granted
itsmoationto quash plaintiff’ sdeposition noticefor Arrington. 1nthe motionto quash, defendant complained
(continued...)
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unlesshe or sheis present at work.
Analysis

Fantiff daims that defendant terminated her employment in retaliation for her seeking to take
medica leave, inviolationof the FMLA. Defendant assertsthat it isentitled to summary judgment because
plaintiff cannot show that it willfully retaliated againgt plaintiff. Specificaly, defendant contendsthat plaintiff
cannot establish that itsstated reasonfor terminationispretextuad. Plaintiff disagrees and contendsthat the
evidence supportsafinding of pretext. Inaddition, plaintiff arguesthat she has presented evidence sufficient
to cregte atriable issue under a“mixed motive’ theory.
l. Standard Of Proof

Asa preiminary matter, the Court addresses the gpplicable standard of proof. Defendant contends
that because plaintiff bringsawillful daim under the FMLA three-year Satute of limitations, a heightened

burdenof proof gppliesto plaintiff’ sretdiationdam. See Defendant’ s Memorandum (Doc. #49) at 12-13.

The FMLA providesatwo-year limitations period for genera violaions and athree-year limitations period

for willful violations of Section 2615.1" See 29 U.S.C. § 2617(c)(1) and (2). Inthis case, plantiff aleges

18(...continued)

that plaintiff’ scounsal was required to subpoena her pursuant to Rule45, Fed. R. Civ. P. (instead of merdly
providing notice to counsd). See SouthwesternBel Telephone, L.P.’s Motion To Quash The Notice Of
Deposition Of Sharla Arlington [Sc] (Doc. #40) filed August 22, 2006. On September 14, 2006, Court
granted the motion to quash as uncontested. See Order (Doc. #46). Sixteen days earlier, however, on
August 29, 2006, Arringtongave depositiontestimony. Defendant complainsthat plaintiff never completed
the examination and that defendant did not have an opportunity to cross-exam the witness. Defendant’s
complants, however, do not go to the admisshility Arrington’s testimony. Moreover, it appears that
defendant could have resumed the deposition and cross-examined her if it so desired. The Court will
therefore congder Arrington’s testimony in ruling on defendant’s motion for summary judgment.

1 Section 2615 provides as follows:
(continued...)
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a willful violation of Section 2615 and the parties have stipulated that the three-year statute of limitations
applies®® See Pretrial Order (Doc. #49) filed September 19, 2006 at 2, 1 4(3)(ii).
The FMLA does not define the word “willful,” but the Supreme Court hasfound that the word “is

generdly understood to refer to conduct thet is not merely negligent.” MclLaughlin v. Richland Shoe Co.,

486 U.S. 128, 133 (1988). Under such standard, plaintiff must show “that the employer ether knew or
showed reckless disregard for the matter of whether its conduct was prohibited by the statute.” 1d. Byits
very nature, aretdiatory discharge daim requires that plaintiff show that defendant acted willfully, i.e. that

it decided to terminate her employment as aresult of retaliatory animus. See Medlock v. Ortho Biotech,

17(...continued)
a) Interference with rights
(1) Exercise of rights
Itshdl be unlawful for any employer to interferewith, restrain, or deny the exercise
of or the attempt to exercise, any right provided under this subchapter.
(2) Discrimination
It shdl be unlanvful for any employer to discharge or in any other manner
discriminate againg any individud for opposing any practice made unlavful by this
subchapter.
(b) Interference with proceedings or inquiries
It shdl be unlawful for any personto discharge or inany other manner discriminate againgt
any individua because such individua--
(1) hes filed any charge, or has indtituted or caused to be indtituted any
proceeding, under or related to this subchapter;
(2) hasgiven, or is about to give, any informationin connectionwithany inquiry or
proceeding relating to any right provided under this subchapter; or
(3) hastedtified, or isabout to testify, in any inquiry or proceeding reating to any
right provided under this subchapter.

29 U.S.C. § 2615.

18 The two-year limitations period would apparently bar any dam based on a non-willful
violation. Plaintiff filed her complaint on December 9, 2005, more than two years after defendant
terminated her employment on March 21, 2003.
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Inc., 164 F.3d 545, 549 (10th Cir. 1999); ¢f. Bonesv. Honeywell Int'l, Inc., 366 F.3d 869, 877 (10th Cir.

2004) (regardless of intent employer violates FMLA if it interferes with employee s right to take medical

leave); McClainv. Detroit Entm't, LLC, 458 F. Supp.2d 427, 437-38 (E.D. Mich. 2006) (employer intent

irrdevant to FMLA interferencedambut integrd part of FMLA retdiationdam). Defendant citesno case
law which requires a heightened evidentiary standard for plaintiff's retdiation dam. The Court will
therefore apply ordinary evidentiary standards.
. Evidence Of Pretext

Pantiff daims that defendant terminated her employment because she exercised rights under the

FMLA. See29U.S.C. § 2615(a). Theburden-shifting framework of McDonnell DouglasCorp. v. Green,

411U.S, 792, 802-05 (1973), and Tex. Dep't of Cmty. Affarsv. Burdine, 450 U.S, 248, 252-56 (1981),

applies to such a clam. See Metzler v. Fed. Home Loan Bank of Topeka, 464 F.3d 1164, 1170
(20th Cir. 2006). Plantiff initidly bears the burden of production to establish a prima facie case of

discrimination. McDonndl Douglas, 411 U.S. a 802. If plaintiff establishesaprimafacie case, the burden

shifts to defendant to articulate a fadaly nondiscriminatory reason for its actions. See Reynoldsv. Sch.

Did. No. 1, 69 F.3d 1523, 1533 (10th Cir. 1995). If defendant articul atesalegitimate nondiscriminatory
reason, the burden shiftsback to plantiff to present evidence fromwhicha reasonable jury might conclude
that defendant’ s proffered reasonis pretextud, that is, “unworthy of belief.” Beaird v. Seagate Tech., Inc.,

145 F.3d 1159, 1165 (10th Cir. 1998) (quoting Randle v. City of Aurora, 69 F.3d 441, 451 (10th Cir.

1995)).

In this case, defendant does not contest that based on the close tempord proximity between the
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exercise of plantiff's FMLA rights and her termination, she can establish a prima facie case.™®

See Defendant’ s Memorandum (Doc. #49) at 14. Defendant contends that plaintiff cannot show that its

dtated reason for discharge —that plaintiff violated its attendance policy —is pretextudl.
Pantff can show pretext by pointing to “such weaknesses, implaushilities, inconsistencies,
incoherencies, or contradictions in the employer's proffered legitimate reasons for its action that a

reasonable fact finder could rationdly find them unworthy of credence” Morgan v. Hilti, Inc., 108 F.3d

1319, 1323 (10th Cir. 1997) (quotations omitted). While “[t]his burden isnot onerous. . . it is also not
empty or perfunctory.” 1d. at 1323-24. A plantiff typicaly makes a showing of pretext in one of three
ways. (1) evidence that defendant’'s stated reason for the adverse employment action was false,
i.e. unworthy of belief; (2) evidence that defendant acted contrary to awrittencompany policy prescribing
the action to be taken under the circumstances; or (3) evidence that defendant acted contrary to an
unwrittenpolicy or contrary to company practice when making the adverse employment decisionaffecting

plantiff. Kendrick v. Penske Transp. Servs., Inc., 220 F.3d 1220, 1230 (10th Cir. 2000). More

specificdly, evidence of pretext may include prior treatment of plantiff; the employer’ spolicy and practice

regarding minority employment (induding statistical data); disturbing procedural irregularities (e.g., fasfying

19 To establish a prima facie case, plaintiff must show that (1) she engaged in protected
activity; (2) she suffered materidly adverse action; and (3) acausa connectionexistsbetweenthe protected
activity and the materidly adverse action. See Argo v. Blue Cross & Blue Shidd of Kan., Inc., 452 F.3d
1193, 1202 (10th Cir. 2006) (citing BurlingtonN. & SantaFe Ry. Co. v. White, --- U.S. ----, 126 S. Ct.
2405, 2414-15 (2006)).

Asnoted, plantiff took FMLA leave fromJanuary 1 through 31, 2003. Defendant terminated her
employment seven weeks later, on March 21, 2003. The Tenth Circuit has held that for purposes of
establishing a prima facie case, a one and one-half month period between protected activity and adverse
action may, by itsdf, establish causation. See Anderson v. Coors Brewing Co., 181 F.3d 1171, 1179
(10th Cir. 1999).
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or manipulating . . . criteria); and the use of subjective criteria” Simmsv. Okla ex rd. Dep't of Mental

Hedlth & Substance Abuse Servs,, 165 F.3d 1321, 1328 (10th Cir.), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 815 (1999).

Faintiff argues that the following evidence demondirates pretext: (1) the timing of her termination;
(2) apattern of adverseemployment actionwhichbegan shortly after she exercised rightsunder the FMLA;
(3) defendant’ s conduct in violation of its written policy; (4) defendant’s use of subjective criteria; and
(5) incong stent explanations regarding the precise dates of plaintiff’s five occurrences in 2002.
1 Timing
Pantiff asserts that the close tempora proximity between her request for FMLA leave on
March 6 and her termination 15 days later, on March 21, 2003, supports a finding of pretext.

See Plaintiff’s Opposition (Doc. #52) at 16.>° Tempord proximity may give rise to an inference of

retaiaion, but it isnot suffident anding aone to raise agenuine issue of fact asto pretext. See Williamson

v. Deluxe Fin. Servs, Inc., No. 03-2538-KHV, 2005 WL 1593603, at * 8-9 (D. Kan. July 6, 2005). In

this case, plantiff does not dispute that at the time she made the request on March6, she wasindigible for

FMLA leave? Defendant informed plaintiff of that fact, yet she did not report to work. On this record,

0 Plantiff also pointsout that Morris prepared anFMLA digibilityformonMarch 19, 2003.
Id.

2 Although the Tenth Circuit has not addressed the issue, severd courts have found that an
employee cannot assart an FMLA retdiation clam if shewas not digible for FMLA leave a the time she
madethe request. See Walker v. ElImore County Bd. of Educ., 379 F.3d 1249, 1252-53 (11thCir. 2004)
(plantiff had not worked full year before leave was to begin); Pennant v. Convergys Corp.,
368 F. Supp.2d 1307, 1313 (S.D. FHa. 2005) (plaintiff had not worked requisite 1250 hours); Schnoor
v. Publ'nsInt’l, Ltd., No. 03-C-4972, 2005 WL 1651045, a *7 (N.D. IIl. July 5, 2005) (plaintiff had
dready taken 12 weeks at time of request); Shafinsky v. Bdl Atlantic, Inc., No. 01-2044, 2002
WL 31513551, a *9 (E.D. Pa. Nov. 5, 2002) (plaintiff had not worked requisite 1250 hours); but see
Carpenter v. Permanente, No. 04-cv-1689, 2006 WL 2794787, a *16 (N.D. Ohio Sept. 27, 2006)

(continued...)
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plantiff hasnot raised a genuine issue of materid fact whether her request for FMLA leave — as opposed
to her taking of unprotected leave — motivated defendant’ s decision to terminate her employment.

2. Pattern Of Retaliatory Conduct

Pantiff assertsthat shortly after she took FMLA leave from August 13 to October 28,
2002, defendant began a pattern of adverse actions againg her. Specificadly, plaintiff pointsto thefact that
Morris caled her into work on December 16, 2002, which resulted in plaintiff recelving two occurrences
instead of one for her absence from August 13 to December 31, 2002. Paintiff asserts that those two
occurrencesformed part of the basis for her writtenreminder onMarch1and her terminationonMarch 21,

2003. See Haintiff’s Oppostion (Doc. #52) at 17-18.

As aninitid matter, plaintiff’s evidence does not congtitute a “pattern” of adverse action. See

Meiners v. Univ. of Kan., 239 F. Supp.2d 1175, 1196 (D. Kan. 2002). She complains of only one
incident — the fact that because Morris caled her to work on December 16, 2002, she received two
occurrences for her absence from August 13 to December 31, 2002 — and the consequences which
supposedly resulted therefrom, i.e. that two occurrencesformed part of the basis for her written reminder
onMarch1, 2003 and her terminationon March 21, 2003. Plaintiff has not shown, however, that the fact

that she received two occurrencesinstead of one had any materid affect on defendant’ s decisonsto issue

21(...continued)

(court not convinced that FMLA retdiation dam precluded because FMLA interference dam without
merit). These courts reasoned that a primafacie case of retdiation under the FMLA requires plaintiff to
show that she engaged in statutorily protected activity, and plaintiff cannot do so if she wasindigible under
the FMLA. See Pennant, 368 F. Supp.2d at 1313; Schnoor, 2005 WL 1651045, at * 7; Shafinsky, 2002
WL 31513551, at *9. Inthis case, the Court need not decide the issue because plantiff has not produced
evidence auffident to create a genuine issue of materia fact whether defendant’s stated reason for
termination is pretextud.
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awritten reminder on March 1, 2003 and terminate her employment on March 21, 2003. Defendant has
presented evidence that indeciding to terminate plaintiff’ semployment, it did not ook merely to the number
of occurrences but aso considered the length and reason for her absences. Onthisrecord, plaintiff hasnot
shown a pattern of adverse action which would support afinding that defendant’ s stated reason for firing
her is pretextud.

3. Actions Contrary To Defendant’s Written Policy

Pantiff contendsthat Morris violated the progressive discipline policy when she issued the
written reminder on December 16, 2002. Specificdly, plaintiff contends that because defendant hed
deactivated her prior performance notice of May 30, 2002,%> Morris should have started over at step one,
1.e. she should have issued a performance notice instead of a written reminder. As an initidl maiter, the
record establishesthat defendant withdrew the writtenreminder of December 16 during the uniongrievance
process, and plaintiff has not shown that the written reminder materidly affected the termination decison
inany way.

Evenif defendant relied onthe writtenreminder, plantiff has not shown that defendant contradicted
its written policy. With respect to recurrence of a performance problem after adiscipline actionhas been
deectivated, the discipline policy states as follows:

Occasondly, a problem may reoccur in a deactivated performance category. In some

cases, the Stuation can be dedlt with through an employee discussion. If the problem

warrants a step of discipling, generdly, the employee will “start over” at Step 1

(Performance Notice). However, amanager is not required to start over at Step 1 if the
gtuation is such that a more severe step of discipline, including dismissd, is appropriate.

22 On May 30, 2002, defendant issued plaintiff a performance notice for aosences totaing
47 hoursand 20 minutes. On June 27, 2002, however, defendant deactivated the notice because plantiff
had obtained FMLA approva for the absences.
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All rdevant factors, induding the fallowing, should betakeninto account when determining
which course of action to take:
A. seriousness of the performance problem;
B. length of time snce deactivation;
C. chronic pattern of same or Smilar performance problems;
D. current active Performance Notices or Written Reminders; and
E. any mitigating or aggravating circumstances,
Defendant’ s Discipline Policy at 12.

Although defendant’ s policy providesthat an employeewill generdly start over at step one, it does
not require such a result. The policy specificaly states that a manager is not required to start over if the
gtuation is such that a more severe step of distipline is appropriate. The policy further provides that a
manager may issue a written reminder when a single incident occurs whichis serious enough to warrant it,
regardless of any previous discipline. Defendant’ s Discipline Policy, Defendant’ s Exhibit C 13.3(B)(1)(c).

Defendant maintains that Morris issued the written reminder because absentesi sm was arecurrent problem

with plaintiff. See Defendant’s Reply (Doc. #57) at 14. At the time Morris issued the written reminder,

plaintiff had been absent from work on unapproved leave for six weeks (from October 29 to December
15, 2002). Plaintiff has produced no evidence which suggests that her absence did not warrant awritten

reminder under defendant’ s policy. See Thompson v. Olsten Kimberly Qualitycare, Inc., 33 F. Supp.2d

806, 814-15 (D. Minn. 1999) (failure to follow progressive discipline not pretextual where plantiff did not
show that defendant afforded progressive discipline to amilarly situated employees and manud stated that
progressive discipline was not mandatory). As such, plaintiff has not produced evidence sufficient to

demonstrate that defendant acted contrary to its written policy, or that written reminder of the December

21




16 somehow supports a finding that defendant’ s stated reason for firing her is pretextud.?®

Faintiff argues that defendant violated itswritten policy by firing her, inpart, based on her absence
on December 17, 2002, when her SW-9115 form stated that the absence was FMLA-approved. The
undisputed evidence establishes that Morris made the FMLA-notation in error and that plaintiff was not
digible for FMLA leave on that date. Plaintiff speculates that defendant relied on the erroneous notation
in deciding to terminate her, but she offers no evidence to support that assertion. On this record, plaintiff
has not shown that the erroneous notation supports afinding that defendant’s stated reason for firing her
IS pretextual.

Pantiff contends that Morris phone cal, which threatened that plaintiff would lose her job if she
did not report towork by December 16, 2002, demonstrates pretext.?* Crawford testified that if Morris
did make such a cdl, it was contrary to defendant’s policy. Not every policy violation, however,

demondtrates pretext. See, eg., Randle, 69 F.3d at 454; RussHl v. Vanguard Group, No. 04-3269, 2006

WL 2077010, a *3 (E.D. Pa. July 24, 2006); Poff v. Prudential Ins Co. of Am., 911 F. Supp. 856, 861

(E.D. Pa. 1996). Haintiff mus show that the aleged policy violationundermines defendant’ s stated reason
for firing her. Seeid. On thisrecord, plaintiff has not shown that the phone cal —even if it wasirregular

— casts doubt on defendant’ s explanation that it fired plaintiff because of excessive absenteeism.

z Plantiff does not argue that defendant should not have issued a written reminder on
February 6, 2003 in light of the fact that it had deactivated the performance notice of May 30, 2002. To
the extent plaintiff might make such an argument, the same andysis gpplies.

2 Plantiff asserts that the phone cal condtitutes a“ disturbing procedural irregularity,” but she
couches her argument in terms that it was contrary to defendant’s policy. See Hantiff’'s Opposition
(Doc. #52) filed October 23, 2006. Regardlessof thelabd, the phone call doesnot show that defendant’s
dated reason for firing plaintiff is pretextud.
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Fantiff contends that Crawford violated company custom and practice when he terminated her
employment during a telephone conference. Again, even if the action violated defendant’s custom and
practice, plantiff has not shown that the violationunderminesthe stated reasonfor terminating her. Assuch,
plaintiff has not demondtrated a triable issue regarding pretext.

4. Subjective Criteria

Pantiff contends that the fact that defendant used subjective criteria under its absentee
policy supports a finding of pretext. Specificadly, plaintiff points to policy language that “[t]here is no
absolute mathematicad standard for determining good or bad attendance.” Paintiff aso points to
defendant’ spracticeof decidingwhether to terminate an employee onacase-by-case basis. Plantiff argues
that the fact that defendant’ s policy alows subjective decis on-making provides an opportunity for unlawful
discrimination.

In support of her argument, plaintiff cites Garrett v. Hewlett-Packard Co., 305 F.3d 1210, 1218

(10th Cir. 2002). That case involved subjective performance rankings which took an abrupt turn for the
worsedmost immediatdy after plantiff began organizing a pro-diversity committee at the workplace. The
Tenth Circuit found that absent evidence that the ranking system relied on objective criteria, plaintiff had

satisfied his burden to demondirate pretext. Seeid. at 1218. More recently, in Pippin v. Burlington Res,

Qil & GasCo., 440 F.3d 1186 (10th Cir. 2006), the Tenth Circuit stated that while the use of subjective
criteriamay be rdevant to the pretext determination, it ordinarily isnot sufficient in itsalf to establish pretext.
Id. at 1195. Both of those casesinvolved the use of subjective criteriain the context of evauating employee
performance. Plaintiff has cited no case — and the Court is aware of none —which supports that afinding

of pretext can be based on the mere fact that an employer’ s absentee policy alows a manager discretion
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in deciding whether to terminate an employee.

5. Inconsistent Explanations

Pantiff asserts that defendant has given inconsistent explanations regarding the precise
dates of the five occurrences in 2002 which formed part of the bass for the termination decison.
Spedificdly, plantiff points to the fact that in her deposition, Morris testified that the five occurrences
occurred on the falowing dates in 2002: (1) January 31; (2) February 14 through 18; (3) August 3;
(4) October 29 through December 16; and (5) December 17 through 31. Plaintiff contrasts this with the
testimony of Crawford, who identified the fallowing dates: (1) January 31; (2) February 14; (3) June 3;
(4) Augug 3; and (5) December 17. Plaintiff asserts that the inconsistencies demondirate that defendant

is attempting to cover up adiscriminatory purpose. See Haintiff’s Oppostion (Doc. #52) at 20.

On thisrecord, plaintiff has not shown that the deposition discrepancies are probative of pretext.
Asaninitid metter, the record yieds no inference that Crawford was responsible for compiling dates of
occurrences, and the Court cannot discern what information he had available &t the time of his deposition.
Moreover, plaintiff does not dispute that in 2002, defendant assessed her five occurrences. The fact that
one of the witnesses may have been mistaken as to the precise dates of the occurrences does not support

afinding of pretext. See Williamsv. Potter, 331 F. Supp.2d 1331, 1345 (10th Cir. 2004) (mistake not

evidence of intentional discrimination).
To show pretext, plaintiff must produce evidence which demondrates a genuine issue of fact
whether defendant’ s stated reasonfor the termination — excessive absentesism —is a fabrication designed

to concea an unlanvful reason. See Kulumani v. Blue Cross Blue Shield Ass'n, 224 F.3d 681, 684

(7th Cir. 2000). A pretext for discrimination means more than an unusud act; it means something worse
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thanabusinesserror; pretext means decait used to cover one stracks. Seeid. (citing Reevesv. Sanderson

Pumbing Prods., Inc., 120 S. Ct. 2097, 2108-09 (2000)). On this record, plaintiff has not produced
evidence suffident to create a genuine issue of materid fact asto whether defendant’ s stated reasonfor the
dischargeis pretextud.
[I1.  Mixed Motives Theory

Pantiff contends that she can overcome summary judgment under a mixed-motive theory of

retaiaion. InPrice Waterhousev. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228 (1989), aTitle VII gender discriminationcase,

the United States Supreme Court found that whenplantiff chalengesan employment decisionthat may have
beenthe product of amixture of legitimateand illegitimate motives, i.e. mixed matives, she need not squeeze

her proof into the McDonnell Douglas burden-shifting framework. 1d. at 246-47. Rather, the Supreme

Court held that once plantiff shows that an improper motive played a motivating part in an employment
decison, defendant may avoid lighility if it proves thet it would have made the same decision despite the

improper motive. Id. at 244-45.% After Price Waterhouse, many courts required that plantiffs present

direct evidence of discrimination to proceed on a mixed-motive theory. See, eq., Mohr v. Dusral, Inc.,

306 F.3d 636, 640-641 (8th Cir. 2002); Fernandes v. Costa Bros. Masonry, Inc., 199 F.3d 572, 580

(12th Cir. 1999); Trotter v. Bd. of Trustees of Univ. of Ala, 91 F.3d 1449, 1453-54 (11th Cir. 1996);

% The Civil Rights Act of 1991 overruled Price Waterhouseto the extent that decision held
that anemployer could avoid ligbility under Title V11 by proving it would have taken the same action absent
the unlanvful motive. See 42 U.S.C. 8 2000e-2(m). The amended statute merely restricts plaintiff’s
remedies — as opposed to absolving liability atogether — if defendant showsthat it would have taken the
same action absent the unlawful motive. See 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(g)(2)(B).
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Fuller v. Phipps, 67 F.3d 1137, 1142 (4th Cir. 1995).%¢ In Desert Palace, Inc. v. Costa, 539 U.S. 90, 101

(2003), however, the Supreme Court clarified that a plaintiff could proceed on mixed-motive theory with
only circumstantial evidence.

While Price Waterhouse and Desert Place involved Title VII dams, some courts including the

Tenth Circuit have gpplied the mixed-motive andyssto FMLA retdiation cdams. See Tujillo-Cummings

v. Pub. Serv. Co. of N.M., No. 97-2337, 1999 WL 169336, at *5 (10th Cir. March 29, 1999) (FMLA

retaiation clam could not survive summary judgment where plaintiff presented no direct or circumstantia
evidence that dleged retdiatory motive related to question of discrimination in particular employment

decison); Richardson v. Monitronics Int'l, Inc., 434 F.3d 327, 334-35 (5th Cir. 2005); but see Sda v.

CDC IxisN. Am., Inc., 445 F.3d 161, 176 (2d Cir. 2006) (not deciding whether to adopt mixed-motive

test for FMLA retdiation claim); Colburn v. Parker Hannifin/Nichols Portland Div., 429 F.3d 325, 336
(1st Cir. 2005) (not resolving open question whether mixed-motive anadlyss availablein FMLA retaiation
case).

Here, plaintiff has not presented evidenceauffident to createagenuine issue of materia fact whether
a retaliatory motive played a mativeting part in the termination decison. Plaintiff cites two pieces of
circumgtantia evidence. Firg, she pointsto the fact that defendant gave her a performance notice on May
30, 2002, based on two occurrences which the FMLA covered. Paintiff acknowledges that defendant
subsequently deactivated the notice, but she contends that Morris should have started over at step one

when she assessed the writtenreminder on December 16, 2002. Asnoted, defendant’ s policy spedificaly

% The Tenth Circuit, however, stated that plaintiffs could proceed onamixed-motive theory
with direct or circumstantid evidence. See, eg., Medlock, 164 F.3d at 550.
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dates that a manager is not required to start over if the Stuationis suchthat amore severe step of discipline
is appropriate. The policy further provides that a manager may issue a written reminder when a single
incdent occurs which is serious enough to warrant it, regardless of any previous discipline. Defendant’s
Discipline Policy, Defendant’ s Exhibit C § 3.3(B)(2)(c). At thetime Morris issued the written reminder,
plantiff had been absent fromwork onunapproved leave for Sx weeks. Plaintiff has produced no evidence
whichsuggeststhat suchan absence did not warrant a writtenreminder under defendant’ spolicy. Assuch,
plantiff has not shown a genuine issue of fact as to whether the performance notice demonstrates that
retaliation played a motivating factor in the termination decision.

Second, plaintiff asserts that because her SW-9115 form states that FMLA covered her absence
on December 17, 2002, areasonable jury could find that the termination was directly based on absences
which involved the exercise of her FMLA rights. The undisputed evidence establishes that Morris made
the FMLA notation in error, however, and that plaintiff wasnot digible for FMLA leave. Pantiff ctesno
evidencethat defendant relied onthe erroneous notation in deciding to terminate her employment. Indeed,
the synopsis whichMorris prepared days before the terminationclearly statesthat plaintiff ranout of FMLA

onOctober 28, 2002. See Deposition Exhibit 17, gppendix to Raintiff’s Oppostion (Doc. #52). Onthis

record, plantff has not shown a genuine issue of fact whether the erroneous notation demonstrates thet
retaiation played a motivating factor in the termination decision.

ITISTHEREFORE ORDERED that Defendant’ sM otion For Partial Summary Judgment [On

Hantiff SEMLA Clam] (Doc. #48) filed September 22, 2006 be and herebyisSUST AINED. TheCourt

grants summary judgment infavor of defendant on plaintiff’sdaim under the FMLA. Paintiff’ sclaim under

ERISA remainsinthe case. The Court isinclined to removethiscasefrom thetrid caendar of February 6,
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2007. The parties may raise any objection thereto at the status conference on January 30, 2007.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Hantff's Motion For Leave To File A Surreply

Memorandum In Opposition To Defendant’s Motion For Summary Judgment (Doc. #58) filed

December 1, 2006 be and hereby is SUSTAINED.
Dated this 29th day of January, 2007 at Kansas City, Kansas.
g Kahryn H. Vrétil

Kathryn H. Vratil
United States Didtrict Judge
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